IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE	NO.	SC09-

JOHN MAREK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT/NOTICE OF APPEAL

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. Attorneys at Law 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of post-conviction relief. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

```
"R." -- record on direct appeal;

"1PC-R." -- record on first Rule 3.850 appeal;

"1PC-T." -- hearing transcripts on prior Rule 3.850 appeal;

"2PC-R." -- record on second 3.851 appeal;

"2PC-T." -- hearing transcripts on instant Rule 3.850

appeal;

"Supp. 2PC-R." -- supplemental record on instant 3.850

appeal;

"3PC-R." -- record on third 3.851 appeal;

"4PC-R." -- record on fourth 3.851 appeal;

"5PC-R." -- record on appeal after remand

"WR." -- record from the trial of Wigley, Mr. Marek's codefendant.
```

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Marek has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. Lightbourne v. State, 742 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1999); Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 2001) Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 2002); Roberts v. State, 840 So. 2d 962 (Fla. 2002); Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 2003). A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Marek, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 21, 2009, this Court issued an order reversing the circuit court's denial of Mr. Marek's Rule 3,851 motion and remanding for the assignment of a new judge before whom the evidentiary hearing would be reconducted.

On May 27, 2009, the circuit court held a case management hearing at which time the evidentiary hearing was scheduled to begin on June 1, 2009. On May 29, 2009, a status hearing was held in anticipation of the evidentiary hearing beginning on June 1st.

The evidentiary hearing commenced on June $1^{\rm st}$ and concluded on June $2^{\rm nd}$. The circuit court directed written closing arguments to be submitted the week of June $8^{\rm th}$.

On June 19, 2009, the circuit court entered its order denying Rule 3.851 relief.²

ARGUMENT AS TO THE ISSUES HEARD AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING

I. NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT MR. MAREK'S CAPITAL CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE ARE CONSTITUTIONALLY UNRELIABLE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND

¹Rather than repeat the entire procedural history which was just set forth in the briefing to this Court in May, some six weeks ago, Mr. Marek commences this Statement of the Case with this Court's May 21, 2009, order.

 $^{^2}$ Also on June 19th, the circuit court entered a separate order denying Mr. Marek's motion for correction of the transcript and a separate order denying Mr. Marek's Rule 3.851 motion filed on June 12, 2009, following the decision by the United States Supreme Court on June 8th in <u>Caperton v. Massey Coal Co</u>.

FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

A. Introduction

Newly-discovered evidence of innocence warrants a new trial where it establishes that had the jury known of the new evidence it probably would have found a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt and thus acquitted or the outcome of the prior proceedings would have been different. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). This means that in deciding whether in fact a new trial is warranted, the evidence, which qualifies under Jones v. State as a basis for granting a new trial, must be considered cumulatively with evidence that the jury did not hear because either the prosecutor or the defense attorney breached their constitutional obligations. State v. Gunsby, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1996); Mordenti v. State, 894 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 2004). Thus, if the new evidence along with the evidence that the jury did not hear because the prosecutor withheld it in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and/or evidence the jury did not hear because of a violation of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), a new trial is warranted if confidence is undermined in the outcome. 3 Here, the new evidence of innocence

³Under the logic of <u>Gunsby</u> and <u>Mordenti</u>, if the new evidence would have probably convinced an appellate court that error was present (*i.e.* that a statement was erroneously admitted and its admission was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt) which would have probably led to a different result as to an issue raised on appeal, then post conviction relief is warranted.

when evaluated cumulatively with the evidence presented at the 1988 evidentiary hearing as to ineffective assistance of counsel establishes that confidence is undermined in the outcome of Mr. Marek's trial. State v. Gunsby, 670 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1995). Thus, Mr. Marek's conviction cannot stand.

However, even if this Court disagrees as to whether a whole new trial is required, the newly discovered evidence standard is the same whether it pertains to guilt/innocence or penalty. Scott v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992). Thus, it is not just a question of whether confidence is undermined as to the quilt phase, consideration must also be given to whether the penalty phase result must be overturned. Since Mr. Marek presented a wealth of mitigating evidence at the 1988 evidentiary hearing that trial counsel failed to discover and present, this Court must consider whether the new evidence would have tipped the scales and resulted in a different outcome as to penalty phase ineffective assistance. Similarly, since Mr. Marek established in 1988 that his penalty phase was tainted by Eighth Amendment error when an aggravator was improperly found and weighed during the sentencing calculus but this Court concluded that this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the issue now is whether the error would have required penalty phase relief in light of the new evidence. Finally, a life sentence is required if the new evidence would probably have resulted in the

imposition of a life sentence on appeal under this Court's proportionality review or under the Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), standard. The issue as to the death sentence is whether the new evidence would probably resulted in a different outcome before the jury, in post conviction proceedings, or an appeal had it been known previously. Had the jury known of Wigley's confession that he did the rape and committed the murder, it would have probably returned a life recommendation. Had this evidence been known when Mr. Marek's ineffective assistance of counsel claim was previously considered, it probably would have required post conviction relief. Had this evidence been known when this Court considered whether the Eighth Amendment error was harmless, it probably would have required a finding that the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Had this evidence been known when this Court considered whether Mr. Marek's death sentence was proportional or whether it stood in violation of Enmund v. Florida, it probably would have led to the imposition of a life sentence. As a result, post conviction relief is warranted. State v. Mills, 788 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 2001).

B. The New Evidence

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Marek presented the testimony of six witnesses who related statements that they heard Raymond Wigley make while he was incarcerated. Jessie Bannerman

testified:

- Q. And at that time, then, what did he tell you about his case, if anything?
- A. He said that he was convicted for murdering a woman.
- Q. Okay. Did he make any statements about killing someone?
- A. Yes, he made a statement, because I made -- I asked him why was it that I see guys constantly approaching him on the compound as though he was a homosexual, or gay, and he told me he was not a homosexual, that he had killed before and if his life was in jeopardy he would kill again.

* * *

- Q. Now, did there come a time later when you asked him about what he meant by that?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Can you explain.
- A. Well, I had got transferred from Union Correctional to Martin Correctional, and about a year or more after I transferred, Raymond Wigley, he came to Martin also, and at this particular time we was sitting around smoking, and the same scenario like at Union Correctional where guys were stalking him there, the same thing was happening here at Martin Correctional, so I asked him again, I said, why do guys consistently approach you as though you was a homosexual man, and he said, man, I keep telling you I'm not gay, I'm not no homosexual, I have killed and I will kill again, and I said, well, referring back to this kill thing you keep telling me about, I said, do you want to explain that in more depth to me, he said, yeah, I was convicted for killing a woman, which I did; and he went into details, he told me how he did this out of fear that she would be able to identify him later on, he said he didn't have no other choice, 'cause I asked him, I said, why would you kill her if you had done got what you wanted from her.
- Q. Did he indicate what her occupation was?

- A. Yes. From my understanding, it was either she was a teacher at a university or she lived near a university or close to a university, it was something in relation to that, she was either a teacher or she lived close by a university, that was the understanding that I got of it.
- Q. And you indicated that you said why did you kill her when you didn't get what you wanted?
- A. When you already accomplished what you wanted to get from her.

* * *

- Q. And what are you referring to when you say "when he got what he wanted"?
 - A. Money, sex.
 - Q. Okay. And so, did he indicate how he came to encounter her?
 - A. Yes, sir.
 - Q. What did he tell you in that regard?
 - A. He said that her car had malfunctioned or something and she was in the presence of another female at the time that he stopped, I guess to oblige some help.
 - Q. And did he explain how he killed her?
 - A. Yes, sir.
 - Q. What did he say?
 - A. He said he choked her because she started to scream.
 - Q. Now, did he indicate that anybody else was involved?
 - A. No, sir. Not until this day did I even discover that he had a codefendant. He never mentioned nobody but himself.

(T. 25, 27-29).

Robert Pearson was called to testify about his conversations

with Raymond Wigley. Mr. Pearson testified:

- Q. Now, while you were cellmates with him, did you have occasion to talk to him about his case?
- A. Yes. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And when I say "his case," I'm referring to the conviction that caused him to be incarcerated.
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. Did it come up a number of times, or did you have one main conversation?
- A. No, we spoke on it, well, he more or less spoke on it, on several different occasions, because we worked in the law library together, sometimes it would come up, or he would ask me about a case, or ask me to help him do some research, or he would just, you know, just speak on what happened.
- Q. And so, you were in the law library a lot?
- A. We worked in the law library.
- Q. Okay. That's where you worked?
- A. Yes.
- Q. As like a law clerk to help other people, or...?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And from what he said -- What did he tell you $\stackrel{--}{-}$
- MS. BAILEY: Objection, hearsay.

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. MCCLAIN:

- Q. -- about his case?
- A. He said that -- well, at one point he said that his codefendant was, I think this was like in '99 or 2000, his codefendant was supposedly about to be executed or

something, and he was like, well, you know, if this guy would just say that -- if this guy would go ahead on and say that he did it and free me, then, you know, I wouldn't be here, and I asked him, I said, well, you know, what happened, you know, that's not what you -you know, earlier he had told me -- he fluctuated in what he said, but he told me about when he left, he left Texas, he took a truck, left Texas, and went by this guy, picked up his buddy, and then he went on a beer run, you know, grabbed some beers, and I think somewhere in, if I'm not mistaken, in New Orleans, or somewhere, he broke in a house or something because he needed some money, he made it down, he came down to Florida, and on the way here there was a car broke down and there was two females on the side of the road, and he said he passed them and then he came back and he got out and he was talking to the female, and one of them didn't want to come, but he convinced one of them he was going to take them -- take her to pick up, I guess to get some gas or something, a carburetor, something was wrong with the car, he said he looked in the hood, 'cause he knew about cars or something, and he was going to go and help them. So they got in the truck, they left, and -- excuse me -- he told me he had a gun and the girl had got it and threw it out the window, and I was just teasing him about it. Excuse me, that's why I was laughing. Anyway, he said they ended up at a beach. He gave me like -- you know, he would tell me the story like three or four different times and it would always fluctuate, you know. You know, sometimes I would ask him, you know, but you told me last time this, or you said last time that.

* * *

Q. Okay.

A. In one version he gave me it was like his codefendant, the girl supposedly liked his codefendant, and they went in and they had -- I guess they partied, they had consensual sex, and the codefendant left, he was there with the girl, and he was -- he couldn't -- he couldn't -- he couldn't get...

Q. He was unable to get an erection?

A. Yes.

- Q. Okay.
- A. Right. And that's where it had got violent. She laughed at him, you know, picked at him, he took it bad, and that's where he would fluctuate a lot, he would say he passed out and when he woke up she was dead, and he tried to, like, prop her up, I remember he was always saying her blonde hair, he was like putting it in her face when he was trying to prop her up; and then he walked out and he looked around, and he ran back to the truck and he woke the guy up and was like, hey, man, hey, man, we got to go, we got to go, we got to go. You know what I mean? And then it would fluctuate again, the next thing I know he would be back saying that the guy was gone, he was in the truck by hisself, and the police pulled him over, you know.
- Q. Okay. Well, in one version he passed out and he didn't know what happened?
- A. Right. Right.
- Q. But in that version was the codefendant present, or the codefendant had already left?
- A. No, he was already gone.
- Q. Okay. And in another version did he remember doing something, did he say he did something to the victim?
- A. Well, he would say, one version, you know, he said that after he couldn't get an erection -- it was always that she teased him -- he got upset and he choked her, and I asked him, I said, man, why did you, you know, why did you -- why you choke the girl if you ain't going to have sex with her, and he was like, well, I don't really remember doing it, but if I did, you know, I ask God to forgive me.
- Q. Okay.
- A. And, you know...
- Q. But in all the versions did she -- did he indicate that she laughed at him?
- A. Yes.

* * *

- Q. What did he say as to how it affected him?
- A. He got upset.
- Q. Okay.
- A. He got upset. And he would -- he would either he either -- like I said, he'd fluctuate, at one point
 he'd talk to me about it and he'd be solid that he
 choked her, he pretty much killed her, and then the
 next version he would tell me is that he passed out and
 he didn't remember anything, but when he woke up she
 was there. And I remember he was saying like there was
 some rope or something around. He was just always you
 know, either he was, you know, adding stuff or taking
 stuff away, he would never just -- there was always
 fluctuation in it.
- Q. The time that he indicated that he choked her, did he indicate how, hands, or did he use something, if you recall?

- Q. What description did he use when he said he choked her?
- A. He choked her.
- Q. That's it?
- A. (No verbal response).
- Q. And you made reference to something Wigley said about her hair. What was that?
- A. Well, when he said he passed out, he woke up and, you know, she was there and he said he tried to like prop her up, or sit her up, straighten her hair out, and I asked him, I was like, you know, why, you know, why, and he couldn't answer that, he just said, you know, I didn't think she was hurt. Then he said he left, he stood outside of the shack and he looked around and then he just left, he said he ran back to the truck and woke this guy up and was like, hey, man, we got to go, and he drove away.

- Q. And was that consistent in all the versions, in terms of going to the truck?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And was it consistent in all the versions that the codefendant was in the truck?
- A. Yeah. He was asleep.
- Q. Okay. And then did he talk about getting stopped later by the police?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What did he tell you about that?
- A. He just said they was -- he was in Daytona Beach and he got stopped and that's where he went to jail, that's pretty much all he said. But he -- and I asked him, I said, well, you know, what happened to the other guy, and either they got in an argument, sometimes they got in an argument and he left, or sometimes he put him out, or they separated some type of way. You know, that was also, you know, it was this way and that way.

(T. 54-56, 58-59, 60, 61-62).

The May 7th testimony of Michael Conley was introduced because he was unavailable at the time of the June 1st hearing. Mr. Conley indicated that he had become good friends with Wigley while they were incarcerated together at Belle Glades Correctional:

While you were incarcerated, did you have occasion to know an individual by the name of Ray Wigley?

- A. Yes, I did.
- Q. Can you explain how you came to know him?

⁴The State did not cross-examine Mr. Pearson.

A. I was at Belle Glades, Florida, Belle Glades Correctional, and I met Ray Wigley there and we became good friends.

(Transcript of May 7^{th} at 215-16).

Later, they met again at another prison and Wigley wanted help on his case:

There was threats on my life from the correctional, so they kept moving me around and finally, I wound up at Lake Correctional, but I met Ray Wigley again at Columbia Correctional.

- Q. So, you indicated that he approached or came to talk to you about his case?
 - A. Right.
- Q. Why did he come to talk to you about his case?
 - A. Because my wife worked for a law firm.
- Q. Was he wanting to see what advice you could give him or -
 - A. Right.
 - Q. Okay.
- A. He wanted to see if I could get him a lawyer through somebody that maybe I knew or she knew, pro bono, I believe.
- Q. Did you then have a discussion with him about this possibility?
 - A. Yes.

(Transcript of May 7^{th} at 217).

Conley testified as to the details of his discussion with Wigley about Wigley's case:

So, he said, well, he said, I was involved in a

murder, you know that. We met a lady on the Florida Turnpike. We took her and wound up having sex with her along the way, on the Florida Turnpike, forcing her and beating her and took her to someplace in Florida -- and I can't even tell you where -- I thought it was a warehouse and I was told that it was a lifeguard station or something.

I said, well, what happened? He said, we repeatedly raped her. I said, you know, who? He said, me and the other guy that's on death row.

I said, well how come you're not on death row? He said, well, I got a life sentence.

I said, Ray -- I looked him right in the eye -- I said, Raymond, did you kill woman, and he said, no. I said, Ray, again, did you kill that woman? He said, no. Then he said -- I said to him, I said, Ray, I'm not going to help you.

He said, I killed the woman, Mike. I strangled her. I said to him, how did you strangle her? He said with a scarf or a handkerchief, I believe. It's been so long.

Knowing Raymond Wigley -- I told you I'm going to be honest about this -- he was a wimp, a real wimp, and it was hard for me to visualize him killing anybody. But in the Department of Corrections, wimps are the ones you got to watch out for. They'll kill you first before they get killed, and so whether he killed her or not, I don't know. That's up to the supreme court to decide. I can only tell you what he told me.

He was crying when he told me that, so, I tended to believe him or he was a heck of an actor, one or the another.

BY MR. McCLAIN:

- Q. Can you describe -- was he sobbing or was he just crying.
- A. He was crying, and he said he felt very bad for the man on death row. He said, guilt is -- I feel guilty because I should be there, too.

(Transcript of May 7^{th} at 219-21).

Conley explained why he pushed Wigley when Wigley first denied the killing:

- Q. When he first told you that he didn't kill her and you said Ray, why did you say, Ray?
- A. Because I saw something in his eyes that was different.

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