JOHN MAREK

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-1080

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3566 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Marek invites cumulative consideration of all the facts. He no longer is seeking to assess the impact of the six inmates' testimony but rather suggest that because he has presented their testimony he is free to revisit all other complaints. He is not entitled to any further consideration on this otherwise barred claim or reopen other issues such as whether mitigation unearthed at the 1988 evidentiary hearing should be presented; or revisit his previously argued <u>Edmund v.</u> Florida claim.

## ISSUE II

#### CLEMENCY

Next Marek argues that under Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972)(per curiam), the Florida Clemency process is "freakishly imposed", because the Governor sought out information before he made a decision to sign Marek's third warrant for execution, and did not ask Marek. Citing Harbinson v. Bell, 129 S. Ct. 1481, 173 L. Ed. 2d 347 (2009), Marek has modified the holding in Harbinson, from a decision that allows for the federal payment for counsel in State cases to a application of Furman to a state's clemency model. In support of this notion he points to 50 named cases that are "ripe for warrants" based on the oversight Commission on Capital Cases, The trial and states nothing more. court found Furman distinguishable.

Initially, the compilation of cases by the Commission on Capital Cases is a legislatively created entity, whose purpose under §27.709(2)(b), Fla. Stat., is not done for the Executive branch and its clemency function.<sup>12</sup> The updated reports,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> §27.709(2)(b), Fla. Stat., provides in material part: (b) As part of its duties, the commission shall compile and analyze case-tracking reports produced by the Supreme Court. In analyzing these reports, the commission shall develop statistics to identify trends and changes in case management and case processing, identify and evaluate unproductive points of delay, and generally evaluate the way cases are progressing.

available on the Commission's website, are not a part of the Executive Clemency Board's records and have an independent purpose having nothing to do with the selection by the Governor in determining what information is germane to that executive clemency process.

Marek received a full blown clemency proceeding with appointed counsel, for the sole purpose of handling his clemency effort, on February 10, 1988, prior to the first death warrant signed to enforce Marek's death sentence. Based on the materials provided pertaining to Marek, the interview of Marek with counsel present and the application prepared by Marek's counsel, clemency was denied, when the Governor signed his first death warrant.

The emails exchanged between the Governor's Office and agencies with information regarding Marek, allowed the Governor to receive an update on Marek's status. See: <u>Ohio Adult Parole</u> Authority v. Woodard, 522 U.S. 272, 282-283 (1997).

Except to express his disagreement with the signing of a third death warrant, Marek can point to no circumstance that has occurred to suggest he has been deprived of clemency consideration. Marek has been treated like every other death row inmate regarding clemency consideration and is entitled to

The commission shall report these findings to the Legislature by January 1 of each year.

no further consideration or review on this point, <u>Rutherford v.</u> <u>State</u>, 940 So. 2d 1112, 1122 (Fla. 2006); <u>Glock v. Moore</u>, 776 So.2d 243, 252 (Fla. 2001); <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1209, 1211 (Fla. 1986), and all other named death row inmates listed in his pleadings that have had a clemency hearing. <u>Marek v. State</u>, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 745 (Fla. May 8, 2009).

## ISSUE III

### STATE DRAFTED 1988 ORDER DENYING 3.850 ON AN EX PARTE BASIS

Marek without a scintilla of evidence, argues because the same prosecutor who handled Marek's Rule 3.850 proceedings, was involved in the <u>Rose v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1992), case, that prosecutor must have drafted the post-conviction denial order herein.<sup>13</sup> The allegations are even more spurious since the underlying facts used to support this unsubstantiated allegations are that the style and font used in the order look like the order in another case. The trial court concluded that the allegations "based upon the font and the style of the Order drafted in 1988 does not state a claim for relief." (Order, June 19, 2009, p. 14). Moreover the trial court found "that the claim is procedurally barred as the actual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Marek was provided two opportunities at the May and June, 2009, hearings, to perfect his allegation that wrong-doing occurred in the drafting of the postconviction order denying relief. Yet, the record reflects that a no point did defense counsel seek to secure the testimony of the prosecutor who he continues to accuse. Counsel's failure speaks volumes.

Court order has been in the Court record and available for review since 1988." (Order, June 19, 2009, p. 14).

At the evidentiary hearing held on June 1-2, 2009, Marek's counsel stipulated to the testimony of Judge Stanton Kaplan, who previously testified at the May 6, 2009 hearing, that he had no independent recollection of what occurred in 1988. (APC 12, 1855, 1859, 1860). While Judge Kaplan was able to talk generally about his normal practice, he had no independent recollection of what happened in Marek's case. Thus, based on a deficiency in proof, the claim was properly denied.<sup>14</sup>

Judge Kaplan testified at that period, he would write some orders, sometimes ask "the party that I was ruling in favor of...prepare me an order...even put it on the record. (APC 12, 1856). When asked about style or formatting, Judge Kaplan said that he relied upon whatever his secretary did. (APC 12, 1857-1858). When asked to review the order denying post-conviction review, he had no independent knowledge as to what occurred in this case some 21 years ago. Moreover, since there was a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The record from the 1988 evidentiary hearing reflects that during the course of the hearing, Judge Kaplan had ruled on a number of the 22 claims before him. While he also deferred ruling on a few, Mr. McClain acknowledged same and did not state anything further. The Court specifically stated it would rule by Monday, and the court closed out by stating that "I'll review this." (TR XVIII 492)

subsequent successive motion filed after Marek's<sup>15</sup> 1988 motion, his time has long expired for raising a claim that existed some 21 years ago, thus the claim is barred. Marek failed to sustain his burden because his claim was insufficiently pled and more importantly not proven.

Additionally, Marek's reliance on Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 675-76, 124 S.Ct. 1256, 157 L.Ed.2d 1166 (2004) is misplaced. While the State may have an ethical obligation after conviction to disclose truly exculpatory evidence, Brady does not extend to post-conviction matters and certainly not to procedural post-conviction matters. Grayson v. King, 460 F.3d 1328, 1337-1338 (11th Cir. 2006), cert. den., 549 U.S. 1117, 127 S.Ct. 1005, 166 L.Ed.2d 712 (2007)(noting that there was no authority for the proposition that Brady extended beyond the trial to post-conviction matters because Brady is premised on the right to a fair trial; explaining, in a footnote in Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 427 n. 25, 96 S.Ct. 984, 993 n. 25, 47 L.Ed.2d 128 (1976), which refers to an ethical obligation, not a due process obligation; concluding that Brady only covers suppression of evidence before and during trial); but see Duckett v. State, 918 So.2d 224, 239 (Fla. 2005)(stating that the State's duty to disclose "exculpatory material" under Brady

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Marek's counsel's recent notice of the "font and style" of the order is not a waiver of any bar since counsel of record was counsel of record at the time of the 1988 order.

is ongoing and "extends to postconviction proceedings."). The State has no duty under Brady to disclose any communications.

Moreover, even if Brady extended to post-conviction procedural matters, the drafting of an order is not exculpatory or impeachment evidence. Marek's guilt or culpability is not lessened, in any way, based on who drafted a post-conviction Nor could any fact witness be impeached based on the order. drafting of the post-conviction order. Whether any ex parte communication occurred regarding the drafting of the postconviction order is simply not Brady material.

Terminally, the trial judge in this case was not the trial judge in either <u>Rose</u> or <u>Smith v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1998), and there is no basis to suggest that the trial judge engaged in any suspect conduct. Thus the trial court properly concluded this claim was barred and groundless.

### ISSUE IV

# ISSUES ARISING FROM JUNE 12, 2009, FIFTH RULE 3.851 MOTION

On Friday, June 12, 2009, at 4:10 P.M., the State received a fifth, successive postconviction motion, raising two previously raised issues: 1. Whether the June 8, 2009, United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Caperton v. Massey Coal Co.</u>, requires further consideration of Marek's recusal claim

regarding Judge Kaplan;<sup>16</sup> and, 2. Whether trial counsel Hilliard Moldof's statement at the evidentiary hearing June 2, 2009, is newly discovered evidence "demonstrating that" Marek "received ineffective assistance of counsel."<sup>17</sup>

## INTRODUCTION--PROCEDURAL BAR AS TO BOTH CLAIMS

Marek sought in the trial court either further evidentiary hearing as to each claim or at the very least, discovery, based on the United States Supreme Court's release of <u>Caperton v.</u> <u>Massey</u>, on June 8, 2009, and "newly discovered evidence" that Hilliard Moldof, at the June 2, 2009, hearing, admitted he did a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> In <u>Marek</u>, 2009 Fla. LEXIS at \*5-6, the Court noted that "On April 27, 2009, Marek filed a motion that sought both rehearing of the postconviction court's summary denial of his motion to vacate and an opportunity to amend his motion to vacate. He requested leave to add the claims that his execution is unconstitutional because he has spent over twenty-five years on death row and that the United States Supreme Court's future holding in <u>Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co.</u>, No. 33350, 2008 W. Va. LEXIS 22 (W. Va. Apr. 3, 2008), *cert. granted*, 129 S. Ct. 593, 172 L. Ed. 2d 452 (U.S. Nov. 14, 2008) [\*6] (No. 08-22), may demonstrate that he was denied due process when Judge Kaplan presided over his initial postconviction proceeding."

In Marek, 2009 Fla. LEXIS at \*4, Marek also raised the specter of ineffective assistance by Hilliard Moldof. "Finally, as part of this second claim, Marek asserted that his previously raised claim that his trial counsel failed to conduct an adequate investigation of Marek's background for the presentation of mitigation in the penalty phase of his trial should be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2456, 162 L. Ed. 2d 360 (2005); Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 156 L. Ed. 2d 471 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 146 L. Ed. 2d 389 (2000). Marek argues that these cases modified the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)."

poor job defending Marek.<sup>18</sup> Each claim raises legal issues which can be resolved without further evidentiary proceedings. As observed in <u>Marek v. State</u>, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 745, \*6-7, 34 Fla.

L. Weekly S325 (Fla. 2009):

An evidentiary hearing must be held whenever the movant makes a facially sufficient claim that requires a factual determination. Amendments to Fla. Rules of Crim. Pro. 3.851, 3.852, & 3.993, 772 So. 2d 488, 491 n.2 (Fla. 2000). However, "[p]ostconviction claims may be summarily denied when they are legally insufficient, should have been brought on direct appeal, or are positively refuted [\*7] by the record." Connor v. State, 979 So. 2d 852, 868 (Fla. 2007). Because a postconviction court's decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing on a rule 3.851 motion is ultimately based on written materials before the court, its ruling is tantamount to a pure question of law, subject to de novo review. See State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003). We conclude that the postconviction court's summary denial of Marek's second successive motion was not erroneous. Each of Marek's claims is legally insufficient or, because it could have been or was raised in a prior proceeding, procedurally barred.

Both claims have been extensively vetted over the years of litigation and the record and merits rulings by the several courts examining same as late as June 19, 2009, have decided Marek is entitled to no relief. As such both claims are procedurally barred from further review, based on law of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> "To be entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffective assistance, the defendant must allege specific facts that are not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate a deficiency in performance that prejudiced the defendant." <u>Jones v. State</u>, 845 So. 2d 55, 65 (Fla. 2003); "Failure to sufficiently allege both prongs results in a summary denial of the claim." <u>Spera v. State</u>, 971 So. 2d 754, 758 (Fla. 2007) (citing <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 796 So. 2d 511, 514 n.5 (Fla. 2001)).

case, res judicata, and collateral estoppel. <u>Topps v. State</u>, 865 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 2004); <u>Denson v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 288, 290 (Fla. 2000) ("[T]he concept of fundamental error was never intended to provide litigants with a means to circumvent the type of procedural bar that occurs when the exact claim has already been decided on the merits and is thus res judicata."). And, the courts have emphasized that collateral estoppel precludes relitigation of issues<sup>19</sup> actually litigated in a prior proceeding. <u>Hochstadt v. Orange Broadcast</u>, 588 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 773 So. 2d 34, 40 (Fla. 2000)("To the extent that Sireci uses a different argument to relitigate the same issue, the claims remain procedurally barred.); <u>See</u>, *e.g.*, <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1077 (1992).

## a. No Case Management Hearing

Marek's first issue asserts that the trial court improperly found the two afore-noted claims procedurally barred -- without

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> For the doctrine of collateral estoppel to apply to bar relitigation of an issue, five factors must be present: (1) an identical issue must have been presented in the prior proceedings; (2) the issue must have been a critical and necessary part of the prior determination; (3) there must have been a full and fair opportunity to litigate that issue; (4) the parties in the two proceedings must be identical; and (5) the issues must have been actually litigated. <u>Goodman v. Aldrich &</u> Ramsey Enters., Inc., 804 So. 2d 544, 546-47 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

Both of Marek's claims, herein presented, satisfy all five factors.

holding a case management hearing pursuant to Rule 3.851(f)(5)(B), after Marek filed his fifth 3.851 motion. He couches this argument in terms of a due process violation.

The record clearly reflects that the two claims presented are repeats of claims raised in his previously filed 3.851 litigation and, as such, the trial court was in the best position after reviewing the record and the parties' pleadings to discern that no further evidentiary hearing was warranted. Marek cites no authority for his assertion that a trial court must hold a <u>Huff</u> hearing "any time anything" is filed, except for <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993), which sets in motion that a hearing should be held to determine if a claim warrants further evidentiary consideration. Even assuming that the trial court was required to hold a <u>Huff</u> hearing, the facts of this case demonstrate any error was harmless, since no evidentiary hearing was required and relief was not warranted on the motion. See: <u>Davis v. State</u>, 736 So. 2d 1156, 1159 n. 1 (Fla. 1999)(Harmless error applies).

# b. Application of <u>Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Company</u>, 2009 U.S. LEXIS 4157, \* (2009)

The ligation history of Marek's case is long and multifaceted. The recusal challenge to Judge Kaplan did not end with Judge Kaplan's self-imposed removal on January 15, 1997, but rather continues because of Marek's persistent flip-flopping

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